# AUG 11 2014

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

No. 320669

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

## BRENT McFARLAND,

#### Appellant,

۷.

BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY,

Respondent.

## **OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

C. Marshall Friedman C. MARSHALL FRIEDMAN, P.C. 1010 Market Street Thirteenth Floor St. Louis, MO 63101 (314) 621-8400 \* pro hac vice

Steven Lawrence Jones EYMANN ALLISON HUNTER JONES, PS 2208 W. 2<sup>nd</sup> Avenue Spokane, WA 99201-5417 (509) 747-0101

##

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Brent McFarland was a carman employee of the defendant BNSF Railway Company, and he was employed by BNSF at its Pasco, Washington freight car repair track. Plaintiff contends that he sustained injuries to his right shoulder, including a tear of the right rotator cuff, while using a 12-pound sledge hammer to manually drive in and install a 55-pound steel cross key – a freight car part – into a freight car draft sill and coupler during December of 2009. While swinging the sledge hammer hard and forcefully to drive in the cross key, Plaintiff felt a sudden tearing and burning sensation in his right shoulder. Following this injury, Plaintiff obtained an appointment with and came under the care of Dr. Kontigianos, an orthopedic surgeon, during March of 2010. Ultimately, plaintiff underwent a right shoulder rotator cuff surgical repair on June 21, 2010. Plaintiff was off work from the time of surgery until September 20, 2010.

Plaintiff's lawsuit was filed on January 30, 2012 and brought under the Federal Employers' Liability Act, 45 USC Section 51, *et seq*. ("FELA"). Although the FELA is markedly different in multiple ways from common law negligence, FELA is still a negligence-based statute. A plaintiff must convince a jury that the defendant railroad was negligent, in some respect, before the

plaintiff is entitled to recover any damages. In this case, as is discussed in more detail below, plaintiff contended defendant's negligence arose primarily from two acts/omissions.

First, it was undisputed that defendant BNSF had – approximately 10 years earlier (circa 1999) – confiscated and removed all of the sledge hammers at BNSF's Pasco Washington freight car repair track that weighed more than 12 pounds, e.g. 16 Ib., 18 lb., 20 lb., and 22 lb. sledge hammers, and instead provided only 10 lb. and 12 lb. sledge hammers to perform work. When the heavier sledge hammers were confiscated and removed in the late 1990s, the carmen employees at Pasco complained that they were forced to use the lighter weight sledge hammers which required the carmen to exert even more force in an effort to drive in difficult 55-pound cross keys. Use of the lighter weight sledge hammers resulted in greater physical effort and greater recoil as the lighter weight sledge hammers bounced off the 55-pound cross keys. Plaintiff contended the railroad failed to provide safe tools and methods of work by not returning the heavier sledge hammers for use under these circumstances.

Second, Plaintiff contended that BNSF should have provided and also put into use mechanical equipment, specifically a hydraulically powered cross key pusher/installer manufactured by

Omega Industries, use of which entirely eliminated striking difficult 55 pound steel cross keys with sledge hammers. Development of the Omega hydraulic cross key installer was a project between the BNSF Vancouver Washington freight car repair shop and Omega Industries. The development project began in about 2000, after the heavier sledge hammers had been confiscated and removed at BNSF's Vancouver facility. The BNSF General Foreman at Vancouver, Vern Peterson, assigned a Vancouver BNSF Supervisor, Robert Russell, to work on developing a hydraulically powered cross key installer because BNSF General Foreman Peterson did not want his employees using sledge hammers. A first generation Omega hydraulic cross key installer was produced in approximately 2002, but testing of the installer at Vancouver demonstrated it was not satisfactory. A second generation Omega hydraulic cross key installer, however, was produced in approximately 2006. The second generation Omega hydraulic cross key installer was produced and supplied to several BNSF locations, including Vancouver, Seattle, Tacoma, Spokane, and Everett. Ultimately, the second generation Omega hydraulic cross key installer was shipped to and received by BNSF in Pasco during the 2010 - 2011 period. But even though the Omega hydraulic cross key installer was tested once successfully at Pasco, it was

never fully put into use at Pasco because, according to BNSF, local BNSF management attempted to develop a unique hydraulic power source at Pasco which was different from hydraulic power sources employed by BNSF at other locations where use of the Omega hydraulic cross key installer had already been implemented.

Plaintiff contended the absence of an Omega hydraulic cross key installer in December of 2009 contributed to cause his right shoulder injury. Plaintiff contended that if the Omega hydraulic cross key installer had been provided and put into use at BNSF's Pasco facility before December 2009, Plaintiff's injury would have been averted because manual hammering on a 55 lb. cross key with a 12 lb. sledge hammer would have been entirely unnecessary and, thereby, eliminated. The hydraulic cross key installer - instead of Plaintiff's manual hammering with the 12 lb. sledge hammer - would have been employed for installing the difficult cross key and would have completed the job.

Plaintiff, however, was critically handicapped in presenting his case to establish BNSF's negligence by failing to provide and initiate use of the Omega hydraulic cross key installer at BNSF's Pasco facility before December of 2009. The trial court sustained BNSF's Motion in *Limine* No. 13 and precluded Plaintiff from calling retired BNSF Supervisor Robert Russell, who had been

integrally involved with Omega in developing both the first and the second generation Omega hydraulic cross key installers. BNSF Supervisor Russell initiated the successful use of the second generation Omega hydraulic cross key installer at BNSF's Vancouver facility in approximately 2006, before Russell retired from BNSF in 2008. By sustaining BNSF's Motion in Limine No. 13, the trial court also precluded Plaintiff from offering any testimony from current BNSF carmen Ed Holm and Andrew Pillar, who had been using the second generation Omega hydraulic cross key installer successfully at BNSF's Seattle Washington repair track for years. The trial court also sustained BNSF's Motion in *Limine* No. 5 and excluded Plaintiff's Exhibit 14 - a BNSF Job Safety Analysis for Zone 1 - which was evidence of and an admission by BNSF that BNSF had accepted, adopted and recommended the Omega hydraulic cross key installer as a recognized alternative - to the sledge hammer - for installing cross keys. The exclusion of this crucial evidence allowed BNSF to portray the second generation Omega hydraulic cross key installer as only an unproven and unused "prototype", still in development, rather than a piece of equipment that BNSF had - itself - already recognized, and used, as an established, alternative means for installing cross keys.

At the conclusion of the evidence and after jury arguments, the jury was provided with a special verdict form. After deliberating, the jury returned with a special verdict that BNSF was not negligent. The jury did not reach and did not decide any of the other special issues (e.g., causation, sole cause, contributory negligence, damages, mitigation of damages, etc.) presented at trial.

#### **II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The trial court erred in sustaining defendant BNSF's Motion in Limine No. 13 and excluding Plaintiff's proposed witnesses Robert Russell, Ed Holm, and Andrew Pillar and further sustaining defendant BNSF's objections during trial to Plaintiff calling Robert Russell, Ed Holm, or Andrew Pillar as witnesses at trial.

2. The trial court erred in granting and sustaining defendant BNSF's Motion in Limine No. 5 and excluding Exhibit 14, the BNSF Job Safety Analysis ("JSA") for the hydraulic cross key pusher (a/k/a Omega hydraulic cross key installer) from evidence and sustaining objections to testimony about this JSA..

3. The trial court erred in overruling and denying Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial Pursuant to Rule 59.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Cross keys are a component of railroad freight car couplers. The E-style cross key is 17" - 19" in length, 6" wide, and 1 - ¾" thick. (T. P111: L25 - P112:10) The E-style cross key weighs 53 - 55 lbs. (T. P112: L17-21)

The cross key secures the coupler to the freight car by being inserted through the slots in the coupler and in the freight car draft sill. (T. P132: L7-9) The "cross key is what basically holds everything together." (T. P69: L24-25) There was a consensus that the majority of cross keys can be installed by hand, either with or without lubrication. There was also a consensus that a percentage of cross keys cannot be installed by hand because they bind. The frequency with which cross keys bind was the subject of differing testimony. The BNSF carmen who worked at the Pasco freight car repair track from the 1990s until trial testified approximately 30% of the cross keys could not be installed by hand, but rather had to be driven into place with a sledge hammer. (T. P78: L1-4; T. P 113: L11-12) Plaintiff's personal experience was that 40% of the cross keys could not be installed by hand. (T. P240: L10) But at 6'-5" and 235-260 lbs., (T. P231: L2-4) Plaintiff was the physically largest carman in the shop who could swing a sledgehammer and, as a result, was asked by others "quite a few times" to help install their

difficult cross keys. (T. P243: L17-25) The two BNSF Supervisors (Joe Long and Ryan Risdon) testified that 90% of cross keys were installed by hand or with "just a tap". (K. P16:11; K. P58: L8-15) These two BNSF supervisors had only recently arrived at BNSF's Pasco facility (Long in 2009, K. P49; Risdon in May of 2010, K. P 60: L6), and neither of the supervisors had ever worked as a carman at the Pasco repair track. Indeed, Supervisor Long's assignment at Pasco during 2009 had been train yard foreman (K. P 49: L1-2) and not at the repair track. Tim Cousineau was the Pasco repair track supervisor in 2009. (K. P43: L3-4) Cousineau did not testify by deposition or live at trial.

Friction is the reason cross keys can be difficult to install and cannot be installed by hand. (T. P128: L6) There are three separate steel/metal surfaces involved, (T. P128: L4) each of the components is cast material, (T. P129: L14) and they are not machined parts. (T. P129: L15) Machined parts "have an exacting tolerance" and provide "a perfect fit." (T. P129: L15-16) In contrast, cast materials are "bead blasted" leaving a rough surface and lack the perfectly smooth surface of a machined part. (T. P129: L17-18) The cast parts have "rough imperfect surfaces". (T. P133: L15-16) So with these rough and imperfect surfaces, there is friction, which causes the parts to bind. (T. P133: L15-23) Misalignment is also a

problem. (T. P78: L8-16; P129: L20-21) When a cross key binds at Pasco - whether 10%, 30%, or 40% of the time - it is driven into place with a sledge hammer.

Plaintiff worked with BNSF carman Kevin Lee Schroeder as a partner on the Pasco repair track for nine years on the same shift. (T. P 63: L6-7) They changed a lot of couplers and did a lot of cross keys on the repair track. (T. P76) Removing and installing cross keys was "definitely a big part of the job." (T. P 62: L 24) Typically, they would change 4 to 8 cross keys per day. (T. P 77: L1-2) Some days they would do 10 cross keys; other days they would do only 2. (T. P 77: L3-4)

BNSF provided Plaintiff and the other carmen at the Pasco repair track with a Job Safety Analysis ("JSA") for replacing cross keys. BNSF Carmen Kevin Schroeder identified Plaintiff's Exhibit 13 testifying, "[t]hat is a JSA, a Job Safety Analysis. The railroad has one for most everything we do. And basically it's a sequence of steps on how to install or you know take apart whatever you happen to be working on." (T. P 63:L18-21) Plaintiff's Exhibit 13 was for cross key replacement. (T. P 63: L 22) This JSA, dated 8/15/00, revised 8/29/06, last updated 9/21/07, and approved by BNSF Pasco Repair Track Supervisor Tim Cousineau, dealt with the specific job task of "X-key Removal/Reinstall". (CP723) Under

the title "Sequence of Job Steps", step 5 was "Replace Cross Key". (Exhibit No. 13) The explicitly recognized "potential hazards" were identified as "potential pinch point, back strains & sprains." (Id.) And the "safe recommended action or procedure" was to "position cross key on top of train line [and] use sledge hammer to drive cross key through draft sill." (Id.) BNSF's JSA, thus, recommended driving a cross key into place with the sledge hammer at Pasco as the "safe recommended action or procedure".

Plaintiff began his employment with BNSF in 1994 and had worked at Pasco during his entire BNSF career, up until the time of trial. (T. P231:6-8) As such, Plaintiff and the other BNSF carmen (Schroeder, David Fox, and Bert Barnes) who had worked continuously at Pasco from the 1990s to the time of Plaintiff's 2009 right shoulder injury, described the change that had taken place in removing and installing cross keys. During the 1990s, BNSF provided heavier 16 lb., 18 lb., 20 lb., and 22 lb. sledge hammers for use at the Pasco repair track (T. P69: L1-14; P116: L1-20; P234: L4-8) providing the carmen a choice of sledge hammers to drive in cross keys. These heavier sledge hammers performed better and were superior to the lighter 10 lb. and 12 lb. sledge hammers that BNSF provided at the time Plaintiff was injured. (T. P117: L4; L15-16; P134: L6-9) The "heavier hammer creates more force." (T.

P70: L2) The heavier sledge hammers provided more momentum striking the cross keys. (T. P117: L3) The greater the mass impact on the cross key, the quicker and easier it drives through. (T. P72:3-4) The heavier sledge hammer was swung fewer times to drive in cross keys. (T. P117: L2-3) Rather than hitting the cross key 100-150 times with the little sledge hammer, the heavier sledge hammer took less time and was easier. (T. P70: L3-5) The heavier sledge hammer just took less effort. (T. P70: L1) And the heavier sledge hammers did not have vibrations nearly as bad (T. 79: L 22-23) and did not rebound nearly as bad (T. P161: L3-6; P239)

In the late 1990s, however, BNSF management took away all sledge hammers that were heavier than 12 lbs. at Pasco. (T. P72: L11-13) The 16 lb., 18 lb., 20 lb. and 22 lb. sledge hammers were all taken away. (T. P72: L14-16) A couple of foreman showed up at Pasco and confiscated all the hammers. (T. P 237: L 19-21) This happened at other BNSF locations as well. Jeff Neufer, who was a BNSF carman and then a supervisor at Vancouver until 2004 when he transferred to Pasco, remembered that they stopped using those bigger sledge hammers at Vancouver. (T. P1 98: L7-10). The carmen were told they could not use them anymore, and BNSF took the heavier sledge hammers off the shop floor. (T. P198:11-13) The same thing happened on the BNSF at Kansas City. (K. P 13:5). The

big hammers were all taken away "in the late 90s". (K. P 13:5) This was done "systemwide on the BNSF". (K. P 13:8) BNSF systemwide mechanical made that call. (K. P 13:24-25) BNSF supervisor Ryan Risdon also recalled the larger sledge hammers being taken out of service. (K. P 59:12-15) There were safety briefings about it at his shop. (K. P 59) Risdon also explained that BNSF has a larger body that governs the tools and equipment that can be used on BNSF. (K. P 60:23-24) There is a BNSF catalog that allows them to procure or purchase only certain specific types of tools, and Pasco local management is "limited to that." (K. P 60:24-61:1) The BNSF safety department also weighs in on the catalog of tools that are approved. (K. P 61:6-8) BNSF has "a systemwide mechanical department safety administration, and we also have a hand and power tools team that authorizes the types of tools that we can buy." (K. P 61:8-10) Because these policies are set systemwide, Risdon cannot go out and buy a 20 lb sledge hammer and provide it to an employee. (K. P60: 20-21; P61:1-2) As Risdon testified, "[s]ure I could go down to Ace Hardware and buy one, but I would be violating our tool procurement policies." (K. P61:3-5) BNSF Assistant General Foreman Joe Long also acknowledged that decisions about the types of tools and equipment that could be used were made systemwide, not locally.

When asked whether he could respond to a complaint about not having a heavier, 20 lb. sledge hammer, Long testified "that's above my pay grade. That was system safety, mechanical that made that call." (K. P 13: L 19-P 14: L2) Decisions made on these issues were made systemwide on the BNSF, not locally at Pasco. Evidence from the two BNSF Supervisors suggested BNSF systemwide mechanical safety had confiscated the heavier sledge hammers in the late 1990s because of a perceived risk of back injuries. (See, K. P14: L6-8; K. P59-60) Risdon testified "there was a lot of back injuries associated with the heavier sledge hammer." (K. 59: L18-19)

After the heavier sledge hammers were confiscated and the carmen only had the lighter weight 10 lb. and 12 lb. sledge hammers to use, this made the job of driving in cross keys a lot harder, (T. P73:17-18) and the carmen considered themselves to be "handicapped" in doing their jobs (T. P73: L18, P74:18) because they took away a tool they really needed and that made the job easier. (T. P74: L15-16) This resulted in a "night and day difference" in the amount of physical exertion involved in driving in cross keys. (T. P238: L21-22) The difference with the smaller sledge hammers was "astronomical". (T. P239: L3-5) Plaintiff explained the reduction in weight of the sledge hammers changed

the way the sledge hammers were swung. (T. P239) They called it "getting deeper in the well." (T. P239: L8-9) This meant pulling back deeper, swinging harder, and getting more speed on the end of the sledge hammer (T. P239: L9-10) to transfer more energy to the cross key. (T. P239: L11-12) Because of their bigger mass, the larger hammers did not require so much speed to do the same amount of work. (T. P239: L12-14) The effect on the body was straining harder, swinging more often, at a faster pace, (T. P239: L 14-17) that resulted in "a lot of jarring." (T. P239: L 19-20) And the smaller sledge hammers rebounded bad compared to the bigger ones. (T. P239: L 16-17) The primary effect was to make Plaintiff's shoulder sore (T. P239: L 22) as well as affecting other parts of his body.

The primary effect of confiscating the heavier sledge hammers was making the work much more difficult, harder, and causing the carmen soreness. The secondary effect was that the Pasco carmen complained to BNSF management about having the larger, heavier sledge hammers taken away. Kevin Schroeder complained to his frontline BNSF supervisors at the Pasco repair track (T. P73: L5-6) These BNSF supervisors were Tim Cousineau and Leroy Manion. (T. P 74: L7-12) Schroeder complained that BNSF had taken away a tool that "we really need", a tool that

"makes our job easier", and a tool that was "easier on our bodies." (T. P74: L 15-16) Included among Schroeder's complaints about the 10 lb. and 12 lb. sledge hammers (see, T. P79-80) was that they were now breaking the wooden handles of the lighter weight sledge hammers, and that metal had fragmented off and injured at least one person. (T. P79: L22-P80: L13) But Schroeder received no satisfactory response to his complaints to BNSF Pasco management. (T. P75: L1-3; 16-18; P80: L14-21) And it was not just Schroeder who complained, "there was a lot of people that complained." (T. P100: L17-18) David Fox also complained to his BNSF Pasco supervisors. (T P123) Fox complained and told the supervisors of the risks involved using the lighter hammers. (T. P124: L16-18) Fox and his fellow carmen asked that the heavier hammers be returned, (T. P1 24: L1) but they "were told it was not going to happen" (T. P124: L1-2) and "that the 10 and 12 pound sledge hammers were what we had. That is what we were to use." (T. P124: L21-22) Plaintiff also complained. (T. P2 38: L3-4) Plaintiff even complained to Ron Berg, the BNSF Seattle General Foreman, and Vern Peterson, the BNSF Vancouver General Foreman, who came to Pasco and removed the hammers from the facility, (T. P2 38: L6-10) and who "gave us [the BNSF Pasco

carmen] the 10 and 12 pound hammers and said, these are what you are required to do the job with." (T. P2 38: L 14-15)

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