**FILED**

DEC 22 2014

COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION III  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
By \_\_\_\_\_

No. 320669

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION THREE

---

BRENT W. McFARLAND,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY,

Defendant/Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Kelsey E. Endres, WSBA # 39409  
Bradley P. Scarp, WSBA # 21453  
Attorneys for Respondent  
BNSF Railway Company

MONTGOMERY SCARP, PLLC  
Seattle Tower, 25<sup>th</sup> Floor  
1218 Third Avenue,  
Seattle, WA 98101  
Telephone: (206) 625-1801  
Facsimile: (206) 625-1807

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### 1. Brief summary pursuant to RAP 10.3(6).

McFarland's arguments that the trial court's failure to perform a *Burnet* inquiry and admit the 2011/2012 JSA warrants a new trial both fail, under the harmless error and abuse of discretion standards respectively, as well as waiver.

The evidence that the three witnesses would have given was cumulative of other trial testimony and would have been insufficient to prove negligence; thus, an incomplete *Burnet* analysis was harmless error.

Moreover, McFarland's gamesmanship supports the concurring opinion of three Washington Supreme Court justices in *Jones v. City of Seattle* that once a case reaches the courthouse steps, the trial court's duty to fairly and expeditiously manage the case should carve out an exception to *Burnet's* presumption that a litigant may present non-disclosed witnesses. BNSF in good faith asks the Court of Appeals to modify the *Burnet* requirement and/or create new law pursuant to CR 11(a)(2) should the court disagree that harmless error occurred.

Third, the 2011/2012 JSA was properly excluded as irrelevant and confusing, and any abuse of discretion was harmless given McFarland's failure to list the proper witnesses to explain it.

Finally, McFarland's last assignment of error regarding his motion for a new trial contains no legal analysis and should be disregarded.

**2. Exclusion of the witnesses' testimony was harmless.**

**A. The evidence would have been merely cumulative.**

BNSF acknowledges that the trial court did not perform a full *Burnet* inquiry on the record when granting its motion in limine.<sup>13</sup> However, "rulings on witness exclusion are subject to review for harmless error."<sup>14</sup> Where no constitutional right is implicated, the harmless error test is "whether, within reasonable probabilities, the trial's outcome would have been materially affected had the error not occurred."<sup>15</sup> It is not reversible error to exclude evidence which is cumulative or has speculative probative value.<sup>16</sup> The omitted evidence need not be identical to what was admitted for it to be considered cumulative.<sup>17</sup> The Washington

---

<sup>13</sup> Before excluding witnesses, "the trial court must explicitly consider whether a lesser sanction would probably suffice, whether the violation at issue was willful or deliberate, and whether the violation substantially prejudiced the opponent's ability to prepare for trial." *Jones*, 179 Wn.2d at 338 (citing *Burnet*, 131 Wn.2d at 494).

<sup>14</sup> *Jones*, 179 Wn.2d at 338.

<sup>15</sup> *Cobb v. Snohomish Cnty.*, 86 Wn. App. 223, 236, 935 P.2d 1384 (1997).

<sup>16</sup> *Havens v. C & D Plastics, Inc.*, 124 Wn.2d 158, 169-70, 876 P.2d 435 (1994).

<sup>17</sup> *Id.* at 170; *see also Jones*, 314 P.3d at 397 (*Burnet* violation harmless where proposed testimony was irrelevant or cumulative); *Latham v. Hennessey*, 13 Wn. App. 518, 526, 535 P.2d 838 (1975) (excluded evidence was "cumulative at best and, as such, any error

(continued...)

Supreme Court has also explained that “[w]here a judgment or order is correct it will not be reversed merely because the trial court gave wrong or insufficient reason for its rendition.”<sup>18</sup>

In this case, the witnesses’ testimony would have been cumulative to other testimony at trial, violating the court’s order on motion in limine 23. McFarland was able to establish the essence of that which he proposes Russell, Holm, and Pillar would testify about through the testimony of Neufer, Risdon, Lovin, and himself. McFarland’s brief cites to *trial testimony* to explain the very facts he claims the witnesses would have also testified.<sup>19</sup> The exclusion was harmless because the jury had before it the facts it needed to make an informed decision.

**B. The extra witnesses would not have proven negligence.**

Even if the witnesses had testified, their “proposed” testimony would not have been able to show that BNSF was negligent, because whether there is a better or newer tool is not the standard under the FELA.

---

<sup>17</sup>(...continued)  
in its exclusion may be deemed harmless”); ER 403.

<sup>18</sup> *Pannell v. Thompson*, 91 Wn.2d 591, 603, 589 P.2d 1235 (1979).

<sup>19</sup> *See, e.g.*, Opening Brief of Appellant pp. 16–17.

(1) ***Whether a “better” tool existed is not the FELA standard.***

The FELA imposes liability for railroad employees’ work-related injuries caused by the railroad’s negligence.<sup>20</sup> The United States Supreme Court and federal courts have repeatedly stated that negligence is not presumed from the mere fact of an accident or injury.<sup>21</sup>

A railroad need not provide an absolutely safe or perfectly safe working environment. “There is some degree of risk inherent in all work, and the level of risk that is acceptable for any given job depends on the specific nature of that job.”<sup>22</sup> It is not enough for an employee to say a task or procedure was “dangerous,” because “no employment is free from danger.”<sup>23</sup> Thus, a railroad employer “is only required to eliminate those dangers ‘that can reasonably be avoided *in light of the normal requirements of the job.*’”<sup>24</sup> As such, a plaintiff “cannot recover simply by

---

<sup>20</sup> 45 U.S.C. § 51 (“Every common carrier by railroad . . . shall be liable in damages to any person suffering injury while he is employed by such carrier . . . for such injury . . . resulting in whole or in part from the negligence of any of the officers, agents, or employees of such carrier.”).

<sup>21</sup> See, e.g., *Missouri Pacific RR. Co. v. Aeby*, 275 U.S. 426, 430, 48 S.Ct. 177, 72 L.Ed. 351 (1928) (“Fault or negligence on the part of petitioner may not be inferred from the mere fact that respondent fell and was hurt.”).

<sup>22</sup> *Lewis v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 778 F.Supp.2d 821, 845 (D. Ohio 2011).

<sup>23</sup> *Aeby*, 275 U.S. at 430.

<sup>24</sup> *Lewis*, 778 F.Supp.2d at 845 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis in original); see also *Conway v. Consol. Rail Corp.*, 720 F.2d 221, 223 (1st Cir. 1983).

showing that his injury is in some way related to his job” or by simply describing the tasks and physical demands involved in the position.<sup>25</sup> As the First Circuit explained: “[a] yardman dealing with moving cars cannot expect the same safety as a clerical worker . . . .”<sup>26</sup>

Additionally, the mere fact that there may have been a safer method does not automatically render the chosen method negligent under the FELA.<sup>27</sup> The inquiry is whether the railroad’s method was reasonably safe, not whether it could have employed a safer alternative one.<sup>28</sup> Where “[t]he task at which [plaintiff] was injured was one that could be safely done by the method which he was told to use and was using,” the railroad

---

<sup>25</sup> *Potrykus v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 2010 WL 2898782, \*5 (D. Ohio 2010); see *Parson v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 714 F.Supp.2d 839, 843–44 (D. Ohio 2010) (the plaintiff could not recover simply by showing that tasks that were “merely ‘part of the work’”—caused her injury; rather, the plaintiff needed to show that the conditions she faced were *unreasonably unsafe*); *Tootle v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 746 F.Supp.2d 1333, 1338 (D. Ga. 2010) (finding that the plaintiff’s “testimony as to the physical demands of her position is only a description of her job and is not evidence that she [was] required to perform her job in an unsafe manner” (internal quotation marks omitted)).

<sup>26</sup> *Conway*, 720 F.2d at 223.

<sup>27</sup> *Chicago R.I. & Pac. R.R. Co. v. Lint*, 217 F.2d 279, 282–83 (8th Cir. 1954).

<sup>28</sup> *Stillman v. Norfolk & W. Ry.*, 811 F.2d 834, 838 (4th Cir. 1987); *Soto v. Southern Pacific Transp. Co.*, 644 F.2d 1147, 1148 (5th Cir. 1981) (“That there were other, arguably more advanced, methods in use by the defendant for [accomplishing the task at hand] is of no significance where the method in use by [the plaintiff] was not an inherently unsafe one.”).

is not negligent by failing to provide an alternative method or tool for accomplishing his task.<sup>29</sup>

(2) ***The excluded testimony was harmless because McFarland did not prove that the 12-pound sledgehammers were unsafe.***

Setting aside the ample testimony that employees would generally choose to use sledgehammers over the press, the fact that the press existed at other repair tracks does not, by itself, prove sledgehammers were unsafe under the FELA.<sup>30</sup> This is independently fatal to McFarland's appeal.

McFarland produced no expert witness to discredit Heikkila's expert testimony about the standard of care and industry standards regarding McFarland's work environment. The "business of operating a railroad entails technical and logistical problems with which the ordinary

---

<sup>29</sup> *Id.*

<sup>30</sup> *See, e.g., McKennon v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 897 F.Supp. 1024, 1027 (D. Tenn. 1995) *aff'd*, 56 F.3d 64 (6th Cir. 1995) ("Plaintiff concedes that the maul he used was not defective in any way. He further concedes that the spike maul is a safe and appropriate way to drive spikes. In fact, Plaintiff's crew generally used spike mauls to drive spikes, rather than using the machine. ***That easier, automated means were available is irrelevant to the issue in this case. Based on the Plaintiff's own testimony, this Court finds that Defendant's failure to allow the use of the machine did not constitute negligence or create an unreasonably unsafe working condition.***") (emphasis added); *Lewis*, 778 F.Supp.2d at 837 ("the mere fact that Lewis felt that the new ballast regulators were easier to use . . . does not indicate that the old ballast regulators were inherently or unreasonably unsafe."); *Jennings v. Illinois Cent. R. Co.*, 993 S.W.2d 66, 73 (Tenn. Ct. App. 1998) ("the record is silent as to any injuries suffered by other Railroad employees while using the spike maul. ***In the absence of evidence that the use of the spike maul was an inherently unsafe method, we reject Jennings argument that the Railroad was negligent in failing to provide him with an automated tool to perform the same task.***" (emphasis added)).

layman has had little or no experience.”<sup>31</sup> The average juror would possess neither sufficient knowledge of the working conditions of a repair track nor ergonomic factors to determine whether BNSF put McFarland at an unreasonable risk of injury. Therefore, expert testimony to the contrary was necessary to McFarland’s claim, and he failed to provide it. Likewise, the record contains insufficient facts to permit the average juror to conclude BNSF knew or should have known that the risk of injury posed by the 12-pound sledgehammers was unreasonable. As a Virginia court held, ergonomic conclusions need expert testimony:

Dr. Shennick testified that from an ergonomic standpoint, the work task assigned to the Plaintiff . . . placed the worker in an awkward position and required that forces be exerted in such a manner that injury could easily occur to the employee. . . . He concluded . . . that the manner in which the Plaintiff was required to compress the shock absorber was unsafe from an ergonomic standpoint. Those conclusions were not within the common knowledge or experience of the jurors.<sup>32</sup>

---

<sup>31</sup> *Bridger v. Union Ry. Co.*, 355 F.2d 382, 389 (6th Cir. 1966).

<sup>32</sup> *Bowles v. Norfolk & W. Ry. Co.*, 50 Va. Cir. 231, \*9 (1999) *aff’d sub nom. Norfolk S. Ry. Co. v. Bowles*, 261 Va. 21, 539 S.E.2d 727 (2001); *see also Lewis*, 778 F.Supp.2d at 844 (“there is no evidence in this case, other than the fact that Lewis developed carpal tunnel syndrome, that the tasks Lewis performed, the frequency with which he performed those tasks, or the duration of his work, created a work environment that was not reasonably safe. Nor is there any evidence that Lewis’s work involved risks of which CSX knew or should have known or that there were any additional steps CSX could have taken to ameliorate possible risks.”).

Despite this, McFarland did not ask to call ergonomist Dr. Morrissey to try to rebut BNSF's expert's testimony ("It's my opinion that that process and procedure is consistent with the industry standards, is consistent with my experience in the industry on the railroads I've worked on and those I've visited, and it was reasonably suitable for the performance of those tasks given the equipment and methods used." RP Vol. III at 383:19–24.).

**C. McFarland waived his argument about Russell's testimony when he chose not to call Dr. Morrissey for the same subject(s).**

McFarland's argument regarding Russell is waived because his witness selection at trial was strategic.<sup>33</sup> McFarland's summary judgment opposition brief represented that Zimmerman and Bertholf—not Russell—corroborated his theory that BNSF knew about the hydraulic pusher and had long already put it into service at other car shops. McFarland also filed a motion asking to present expert testimony as a substitute for Russell's involvement (and 37 other witnesses, Zimmerman not among them). As a result, the trial court allowed him to disclose the expert Dr. Morrissey in rebuttal and the parties made no further efforts to

---

<sup>33</sup> See, e.g., *Reilly v. Natwest Markets Grp., Inc.*, 181 F.3d 253, 268 (2d Cir. 1999) ("NatWest chose not to call either witness on the subject of document retention. Nor did it call any other witness who, it now claims, would have testified to some unspecified 'facts.' Because we cannot know whether any witnesses called would have been precluded had they . . . been offered at trial, we deem NatWest's challenge to their purported preclusion an issue not actually 'passed upon below' and therefore waived.").

conduct discovery about Russell or those other witnesses. McFarland listed both Zimmerman and Morrissey on his TMR for the same topics, but choose *not* to call either witness to the stand; thus, the trial court did not rule on the inclusion or exclusion of the testimony, and McFarland waived his argument that it was needed from Russell (or anyone else).

McFarland represented to the trial court and BNSF that he could retain Dr. Morrissey in lieu of involving 38 witnesses, including Russell. The court allowed McFarland to ask to call Dr. Morrissey in rebuttal, inviting him to raise this issue again as evidence developed during trial. But McFarland chose not to ask to call him to testify. By making that choice, McFarland did not get a ruling from the trial court about the admission of additional testimony on this topic, and thus McFarland's challenge is waived.<sup>34</sup> Accordingly, this court should decline to address it further. RAP 2.5(a). McFarland bears responsibility for that decision.

---

<sup>34</sup> See, e.g., *State v. McWatters*, 63 Wn. App. 911, 916, 822 P.2d 787 (1992), as modified (Feb. 18, 1992) ("When the court asked . . . counsel later in the trial if he still intended to call the witness, counsel stated he did not intend to do so at that time. The witness was never called and the court did not rule on the admissibility of the testimony. In light of the facts, Mr. McWatters waived his right to have this issue reviewed. This failure deprived the trial court of the opportunity to consider the issue." (internal citations omitted)).

**D. McFarland did not make an offer of proof regarding Holm or Pillar at trial.**

As stated above, McFarland never explained to the trial court or BNSF what Holm or Pillar had to add to this case until he filed his motion for a new trial. Where evidence is excluded, ER 103(a)(2) requires that the offering party make the substance of it known to the court by offer or from the context within which questions were asked.<sup>35</sup> McFarland did not do so, so any error in their exclusion is waived.

**3. This case's procedural history justifies a "courthouse steps" exception to *Burnet*.**

The outcome of this appeal should warn litigants against attempting to plant alleged error on the record by simply naming minor witnesses on long-past-due, bare-bones witness disclosures (or none at all) and hoping that the court does not perform a *Burnet* test for each of them.

Requiring a full *Burnet* analysis at trial imposes a heavy burden on the trial court and heavy prejudice to the non-culpable party. The trial judge was in the best position to govern discovery, pleadings, and the

---

<sup>35</sup> See, e.g., *Seattle First Nat. Bank v. W. Coast Rubber, Inc.*, 41 Wn. App. 604, 609, 705 P.2d 800 (1985) ("The fifth issue is whether the trial court erred by excluding the testimony of G. Ben Bryce, Sea-First's vice-president, regarding the intentions and additional agreements of the parties. Because Townsend did not make an offer of proof at trial, as required by ER 103(a)(2), error, if any, has been waived.").

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